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§446 Probable Cause,
Facts not Establishing



1st Circuit finds no probable cause that house was used to facilitate drug trans​actions. (446) Defendant was ar​rested for drug trafficking based on cocaine, marijuana cigarettes, and drug sale notes found in his truck. A search of defen​dant's house revealed only a small amount of a white pow​dery substance resem​bling co​caine, a plastic bag with "green veg​etable matter," some marijuana cigarettes and numerous firearms. The 1st Circuit found that this was insufficient evi​dence to es​tablish prob​able cause that defen​dant's house was sub​ject to forfeiture, and remanded the case for trial. Most importantly, the government never intro​duced evidence that the substances found in defendant's house were ille​gal drugs. In addi​tion, although a confidential informant had ad​vised the police more than a year before the search that s/he had seen cocaine and large amounts of cash in the house, the in​formant was of untested relia​bility, and many of the signifi​cant items that the infor​mant claimed to have seen in the house, such as large amounts of cash, drugs and a .357 pistol, never were found. Although the police overheard one phone call to the house in which it sounded as if a drug deal were be​ing set up, the deal never materialized. The "tools of the trade" found in the house, without solid evidence of the trade itself, were insufficient to establish probable cause. U.S. v. Parcel of Land and Residence at 28 Emery Street, Merrimac, Massachusetts, 914 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Parcel of Land and Residence at 28 Emery Street, Merrimac, Massachusetts, 914 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1990)."
2nd Circuit rejects use of drug courier pro​file to establish probable cause for forfei​ture. (446) Police discovered $31,990 in the trunk of a Gypsy cab. The 2nd Circuit af​firmed that the government failed to demon​strate probable cause to seize the cash. At best, the amount of cash supported an infer​ence of illegal activity, but not necessarily drug-related. The method of bundling the cash (rubber bands and plas​tic bags) might be probative of drug activity if there were other factors, but here there were none. The fact that the cab driver falsely told police that the money belonged to an unknown black male did not indicate drug trafficking. The parallels between the driver's itinerary and that of a Dominican drug courier was not probative, since there was no evi​dence that the cab was used to transport drugs nor that the money was connected with nar​cotics. The driver's possession of one-half gram of cocaine for personal use did not provide a strong in​ference that he was engaged in drug traffick​ing. All of these fac​tors, taken to​gether, established no more than a sus​picion. U.S. v. $31,990, 982 F.2d 851 (2d Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. $31,990, 982 F.2d 851 (2d Cir. 1993)."
2nd Circuit remands to determine proba​ble cause to forfeit bank accounts. (446) In a civil forfeiture ac​tion against real property and bank accounts, the district court ordered the forfeiture of the real prop​erty, but found that the government had not traced the money in the bank account to drug traffick​ing. The 2nd Circuit remanded because it was unclear whether the court had found (a) no probable cause to forfeit the accounts, or (b) that claimants had shown that the ac​counts did not contain drug proceeds. As the trial began, the judge announced that the proba​ble cause requirement had been met by the gov​ernment. The finding was not limited to the prop​erty, so the government presented no fur​ther evi​dence. The court's later finding was contrary to this initial ruling. The case was remanded to determine whether proba​ble cause ex​isted for the forfeiture of the ac​counts. The court noted that on remand, prob​able cause could be based on circum​stantial evidence and the funds need not be linked to specific drug transactions. U.S. v. All Right, Title, and Interest in Real Property and Appurte​nances Thereto Known as 785 St. Nicholas Ave., 983 F.2d 396 (2d Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. All Right, Title, and Interest in Real Property and Appurte​nances Thereto Known as 785 St. Nicholas Ave., 983 F.2d 396 (2d Cir. 1993)."
5th Circuit holds that trace amount of nar​cotic does not constitute probable cause for forfeiture. (446) The gov​ernment seized an air​plane and instituted for​feiture proceedings un​der three separate statutes after it lo​cated three or four mil​ligrams of cocaine on the plane. Be​cause the trace was visible only through the use of sophis​ticated scientific pro​cedures, the 5th Cir​cuit re​versed the district court's forfeiture or​der. The court said that as a matter of law, such an amount was insuffi​cient to give rise to probable cause to find that (1) there was a con​trolled substance intended for distribution (21 U.S.C. 88l(a)(4), (2) there was a connection between the plane and drug trafficking (21 U.S.C. 881(a)(b), or (3) that the drug trace was an "article which was introduced into the U.S. contrary to law." (19 U.S.C. 1595(a)). U.S. v. One Gates Learjet Serial No. 28004, 861 F.2d 868 (5th Cir. 1988).xe "U.S. v. One Gates Learjet Serial No. 28004, 861 F.2d 868 (5th Cir. 1988)."
6th Circuit creates presumption against admission of evidence that drug dog alerted to currency. (446) In this criminal drug case, the Sixth Circuit issued an evidentiary ruling that appears equally applicable to civil and criminal forfeitures. The appellate panel upheld defendants’ drug trafficking convictions, but two judges filed a special concurrence in which they found that evidence regarding positive alerts to currency by drug-sniffing canines is “inherently unreliable” based on studies showing that a high percentage of cash in the U.S. is contaminated with drug residue. Accordingly, the court held that “courts should generally presume against the admissibility of dog-sniff evidence unless the government offers other evidence showing a direct nexus between illegal narcotics, the currency in question, and the defendant.” Should the evidence “in any way cast doubt on the reliability of” the dog sniff evidence, “courts should find such evidence inadmissible.” U.S. v. Buchanan, 207 F.3d 344 (6th Cir. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Buchanan, 207 F.3d 344 (6th Cir. 2000)."
6th Circuit says anonymous tip and dog's reaction to money did not show connection between money and drugs. (446) An anonymous caller advised authorities that a drug courier was traveling on a certain plane from New York to Cleveland. Police determined that claimant most closely met the description, and seized $5,000 from him, and $9,750 from a bag carried by claimant's companion. A narcotics dog later reacted positively to the money. The 6th Circuit reversed a summary judgment in favor of the government, holding that anony​mous tip and the dog's reaction did not show a connection between the money and drugs. The anonymous tip described the courier as a sole black man, five feet 10 inches tall, wearing glasses and a suit, carrying both an attaché case and illegal drugs. Claimant was six feet four inches tall, carried no luggage or drugs, and traveled with a companion. The value of the dog's reaction was minimal, given the high percentage of currency that has drug residue. The modest amount of money carried by claimant was insufficient to justify more than a suspicion of illegal activity. The fact that claimant lied about the purpose of his trip, and had pled guilty to state drug charges more than six years earlier, also did not establish probable cause. U.S. v. $5,000 in U.S. Currency and $9,750 in U.S. Currency, 40 F.3d 846 (6th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. $5,000 in U.S. Currency and $9,750 in U.S. Currency, 40 F.3d 846 (6th Cir. 1994)."
6th Circuit says probable cause may not be based on magistrate's ex parte order. (446) The district court held that claimant's probable cause motion was moot, because a magistrate had already found that probable cause existed. The 6th Circuit found this reversible error, since the magistrate's order was based on an ex parte proceeding. Claimant was never given the opportunity to argue probable cause. The district court erroneously equated the magistrate judge's inquiry into whether there was probable cause to support an arrest warrant with the inquiry into whether there is probable cause to forfeit the property. U.S. v. Real Property Known and Numbered as Rural Route 1, Box 137-B, Cutler, Ohio, Box 137-B, Cutler, Ohio, 24 F.3d 845 (6th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Known and Numbered as Rural Route 1, Box 137-B, Cutler, Ohio, Box 137-B, Cutler, Ohio, 24 F.3d 845 (6th Cir. 1994)."
6th Circuit finds no probable cause to for​feit money after positive dog reaction was excluded. (446) DEA agents ques​tioned two outbound airport passengers who met cer​tain characteristics of a drug courier. The passen​gers revealed they were carrying about $45,000 in their socks. The money was sub​jected to a dog sniff, and the dog reacted posi​tively for drugs. The 6th Circuit affirmed the district court's ruling that there was no prob​able cause to forfeit the money. When the agents told claimants that the money would be subjected to a dog sniff, a seizure oc​curred. Since there was no consent, no war​rant, and no ex​ception to the warrant require​ment, the seizure was illegal. Thus, the dog's reac​tion was the fruit of an illegal seizure. The remaining facts did not establish proba​ble cause. Without the dog's reaction, noth​ing showed a substantial connec​tion between the cash and illegal drug activity. Judge Well​ford dissented. U.S. v. Fifty-Three Thou​sand Eighty-Two Dollars in United States Currency, $53,082.00, 985 F.2d 245 (6th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Fifty-Three Thou​sand Eighty-Two Dollars in United States Currency, $53,082.00, 985 F.2d 245 (6th Cir. 1993)."
7th Circuit emphatically finds no probable cause for forfeiture of over $500,000 cash. (446) In an opinion laden with withering swipes at both the district court and federal prosecutors, the Seventh Circuit found the record “utterly devoid” of facts supporting a finding of probable cause for the forfeiture of over $500,000 cash found at a Chicago pizzeria and thus reversed the grant of summary judgment for the government. Chicago police found the money inside a barrel in an elevator shaft during a stolen property investigation. Federal officials sought its forfeiture as narcotics proceeds. The Seventh Circuit ruled: (1) “The existence of any sum of money, standing alone, is not enough to establish probable cause to believe the money is forfeitable.” (2) The presence of handguns at the pizzeria did not necessarily prove narcotics trafficking or any other crime. (3) There was no evidence that any drug activity had ever occurred in the pizzeria. The only evidence of drugs was that an informant once saw cocaine in one of the trucks delivering sausage to the pizzeria. (4) The court was “unwilling to take seriously the evidence of the post-seizure dog sniff” because “one-third of the currency in the United States is contaminated with cocaine.” In short, there was no narcotics nexus, and the case was remanded with instructions to dismiss. The court concluded with the observation that, “we believe the government’s conduct in forfeiture cases leaves much to be desired.” U.S. v. $506,231 in United States Currency, 125 F.3d 442 (7th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. $506,231 in United States Currency, 125 F.3d 442 (7th Cir. 1997)."
8th Circuit finds no probable cause for seizure of cash at airport. (446) In a forfeiture proceeding against cash seized from claimant at the air​port, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of the government. In granting summary judgment, the district court found that claimant voluntarily gave the currency to the police officer. The 8th Circuit reversed. Contrary to the district court's findings, there was no admission by claimant that he voluntarily gave the officers the initial $2900 or the subsequent $4950 contained in the envelope. In fact, the record established the contrary. In the absence of a valid con​sent, the government must show probable cause to justify the seizure of the currency. Here there was none. Besides claimant's somewhat suspicious behavior, the only evi​dence linking claimant to drugs was a report that he had a heroin supplier in Omaha. U.S. v. $7,850.00 in U.S. Currency, 7 F.3d 1355 (8th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. $7,850.00 in U.S. Currency, 7 F.3d 1355 (8th Cir. 1993)."
9th Circuit says lack of legitimate source for assets of drug trafficker not enough for probable cause. (446) The government sought forfeiture of cash, silver, and numerous vehicles from claimant. In essence, the government’s case seems to have rested on three pillars: (1) claimant was a large-scale trafficker in methamphet​amine; (2) claimant had no legitimate source of income for years; and (3) claimant possessed enormous sums of cash, aircraft, boats, and automobiles. The Ninth Circuit ruled that the “absence of an identified legitimate source for assets” is not enough to sustain probable cause for forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §881(b). The court distin​guished forfeitures under 21 U.S.C. §853(d), which creates a rebuttable presumption that property acquired by a convicted felon during the period of illegal activity is forfeitable in the absence of another likely source. U.S. v. $405,089.23 U.S. Currency, 191 F.3d 461 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. $405,089.23 U.S. Currency, 191 F.3d 461 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit rules proof that owner was drug dealer with no legal income doesn’t make house forfeitable. (446) The government sought civil forfeiture of the residence of a drug trafficker. The district court suppressed on Fourth Amendment grounds most of the evidence tracing drug money to purchase of the house, but found probable cause for the forfeiture anyway. The Ninth Circuit examined the unsuppressed evidence and concluded that it proved claimant to be a “large-scale drug dealer who possessed large amounts of cash and other expensive assets, which he tried to conceal, and that he lacked a legitimate source of income.” However, this was not enough to establish the requisite nexus between the house and illegal drug transaction, and thus the government failed to show probable cause for the forfeiture. U.S. v. Real Property Known as 22249 Dolorosa Street, 167 F.3d 509 (9th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Known as 22249 Dolorosa Street, 167 F.3d 509 (9th Cir. 1999)."
9th Circuit finds money laundering conviction did not bar claim that money was obtained legally. (446) Defendant was convicted of money laundering in a criminal trial at which the jury instructions (properly) permitted a verdict of guilty if the source of funds was an account in which tainted funds were commingled with other funds. See U.S. v. Garcia, 37 F.3d 1359 (9th Cir, 1994). When the government sought civil forfeiture of real estate purchased with money from the bank account at issue in the criminal case, the district court found that the defendant was estopped by the criminal verdict from contesting the illegal source of the money in the account. The Ninth Circuit reversed. It found the jury verdict established, at most, that some but not all of the funds in the account were criminally derived. Consequently, it was error not to allow claimant to present evidence to show the legitimate source of some of the money. In addition, because the district court improperly relied on the prior conviction and did not allow development of other evidence, there was insufficient showing of probable cause to support the forfeiture. The case was remanded for further evidence. U.S. v. Real Property Located at 22 Santa Barbara Drive, 121 F.3d 719 (9th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Located at 22 Santa Barbara Drive, 121 F.3d 719 (9th Cir. 1997)."
9th Circuit finds no probable cause on remand of U.S. v. $405,089.23. (446) The Ninth Circuit decided in U.S. v. $405,089.23, 33 F.3d 1210 (9th Cir. 1994), that the civil forfeiture of claimants’ property violated the Double Jeo​pardy Clause, a holding reversed in U.S. v. Ursery, 518 U.S. 267 (1996). On remand, the Ninth Circuit found the government had failed to establish probable cause for the seizures at the time forfeiture proceedings were instituted. The court found that the government could not rely on the probable cause finding implicit in the criminal indictment, or upon the jury’s finding of guilt after commencement of the civil action. Moreover, the court concluded that the affidavit in support of the seizure warrant did not establish probable cause. The affidavit estab​lished: (1) a wire transfer by claimant Arlt of $405,000 from an overseas account; (2) an admission by the U.S. account holder (Hill) that Arlt was trying to hide the money in Hill’s account and that Hill suspected the source of the money was illegal; and (3) evidence concededly amounting to probable cause that both claimants were “organ​izing and managing a large narcotics operation” and were “heavily involved in the illegal acquisition and distribution of derivative chemicals used in the manufacture and distribution of methamphet​amine.” The court nonetheless found insufficient nexus between the money and a drug crime. The case was remanded for further proceedings on the evidence available to the government at the time the civil action was filed. U.S. v. $405,089.23 U.S. Currency, 122 F.3d 1285 (9th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. $405,089.23 U.S. Currency, 122 F.3d 1285 (9th Cir. 1997)."
9th Circuit finds no probable cause despite drug dog alert to money, drug courier profile, and evasive answers. (446) The Ninth Circuit found no probable cause to forfeit $49,576 found in claimant’s bag at the airport. The fact that a drug-sniffing dog alerted to the money was “entitled to little weight because of the widespread contamination of money with drug residue in the Los Angeles area.” See U.S. v. United States Currency, $30,060.00, 39 F.3d 1039, 1043 (9th Cir. 1994). The fact that claimant was once detained in connection with a drug-related crime did not provide a “credible link” between the money and a drug transaction. That claimant fit a drug courier profile provided grounds for reasonable suspicion, but not for probable cause. Finally, the claimant’s use of a fake driver’s license, his evasive and dishonest answers to questions, and his general nervous behavior were “indicative of some illegal activity, but not necessarily of drug trafficking.” The forfeiture was reversed. U.S. v. $49,576.00 U.S. Currency (Lombera), 116 F.3d 425 (9th Cir.1997).xe "U.S. v. $49,576.00 U.S. Currency (Lombera), 116 F.3d 425 (9th Cir. 1997)."
9th Circuit finds drug residue on currency insufficient for probable cause for forfeiture. (446) The large quantity of currency was contaminated with narcotics residue and was packaged, and the owner of the money gave false accounts of the its source and his own employment record. Nevertheless, Judges Tang, Noonan and Pregerson held that this was insufficient to furnish probable cause that the money was connected to drugs, as required for civil asset forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6). Therefore the summary judgment against the government was affirmed. U.S. v. U.S. Currency, $30,060.00, 39 F.3d 1039 (9th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. U.S. Currency, $30,060.00, 39 F.3d 1039 (9th Cir. 1994)."
9th Circuit says probable cause for forfeiture is similar to that required for a search warrant. (446) Citing U.S. v. One 56-Foot Motor Yacht Named the Tahuna, 702 F.2d 1275, 1281 (9th Cir. 1983), the 9th Circuit said that the "standard of probable cause to support a forfeiture is similar to that required for a search warrant." As the requirement is traditionally stated, "the government's belief that the property is subject to forfeiture must be more than a mere suspicion but can be less than prima facie proof." Here the government could not show more than a "mere suspicion" that the money seized from the claimant was connected with drug activities. There was nothing in either the amount of money he admitted to carrying or the partially conflicting explanations he offered to connect the money to drugs. U.S. v. $191,910.00 in U.S. Currency, 16 F.3d 1051 (9th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. $191,910.00 in U.S. Currency, 16 F.3d 1051 (9th Cir. 1994)."
9th Circuit holds plane was not "fitted out for smug​gling" and was not subject to forfeiture. (446) In this amended opinion, the 9th Circuit rejected the gov​ernment's argument that the aircraft was subject to for​feiture under 19 U.S.C. §1703. As​suming without de​cid​ing that §1703 applies to air​craft, the court held that none of the requirements for forfeiture were met. There was no evi​dence that the claimant failed to display his lights or failed to comply with an order to stop his air​plane. Moreover the gov​ernment failed to estab​lish probable cause to believe that the plane was fitted out for smuggling. Although it had been altered, it was done with FAA ap​proval. U.S. v. Dickerson, 873 F.2d 1181 (9th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. Dickerson, 873 F.2d 1181 (9th Cir. 1989)."
9th Circuit holds that government's failure to "secure" airplane after seizure eliminated probable cause for forfei​ture. (446) Customs agents seized a Cessna 421 at a desert airport after it was observed flying in a pattern con​sistent with narcotics smuggling from Mexico. No contraband was found in the airplane, not even debris. The plane was taken to North Is​land Naval Air Station in San Diego, but the government was unable to es​tablish that it was secured, and there was some evidence that it had been tampered with. Six days after seizure, a drug dog alerted on the carpeting in the airplane. Based upon the "alert" and the suspicious flying, the aircraft was forfeited to the government under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(4). On appeal, the 9th Circuit re​versed, holding that the government's failure to secure the airplane during the six days meant that there was some possibility that the smell of narcotics was in​troduced after the plane was seized. The other evidence was not sufficient to es​tablish probable cause. The judgment of forfeiture was reversed. U.S. v. Dickerson, 873 F.2d 1181 (9th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. Dickerson, 873 F.2d 1181 (9th Cir. 1989)."
Forfeiture affirmed based on totality of circumstances, although Tenth Circuit found little probative value regarding drug trafficking based on claimant’s nervousness and inconsistent statements in encounter with officers, concealment of cash, and generalized allegations about “known” drug routes, destinations and sources. (445, 446) The claimant’s truck was lawfully stopped for a traffic violation and consented to a search of the truck and trailer. In the sleeper compartment, the troopers found two sealed cardboard boxes containing the defendant currency. At trial, the district court found that the claimant’s testimony was inconsistent with earlier statements to the troopers and with his passenger’s testimony, and granted judgment for the government. On appeal, the claimant argued that the evidence was inadequate to establish by a preponderance of the evidence a substantial connection between the currency and a controlled substance, and the 10th Circuit considered the totality of the evidence as a whole. As to the claimant’s nervousness, it may be considered probative, but the Court concluded that it is minimal probative value, given that many, if not most, individuals can become nervous or agitated when detained by police officers. As for his inconsistent statements, the Court concluded that multiple changes in the claimant’s stories are not of significant probative value. However, it was not particularly significant that the claimant concealed his money, because it is customary for people to carry cash, especially large amounts of cash, concealed. Although the district court found it probative that the claimant was traveling through Kansas on a “known drug route,” the Court did not find it probative of drug trafficking that a trucker hauling produce from California to New Jersey would travel on a major interstate. Generalized allegations about “known drug sources,” “known drug destinations,” and “known drug routes” do not provide a nexus to drugs on those facts, and is an exceptionally weak basis to justify a search. So many locales have been labeled “known drug sources” by law enforcement that it appears nearly any trip down the interstate would place one en route to or from an alleged drug source. However, as for the seized currency, amounting to over a quarter of a million dollars in bills of various denominations, and bundled in stacks held by rubber bands and wrapped in cellophane, a large amount of currency, while not alone sufficient to establish a connection to a drug transaction, was “strong evidence” of such a connection. Although the amount of currency is not dispositive, it was of greater significance when coupled with the claimant’s inconsistent statements about the presence and amount of currency in the truck and the utter lack of evidence to support his claims that the money came from loans. Together with the other factors surrounding the seizure, the trooper’s detecting of the smell of marijuana on the currency was strongly probative of a link between the money and drug trafficking. Thus, the district court’s order of forfeiture was affirmed. U.S. v. $252,300.00 in U.S. Currency, 2007 WL 1241654 (10th Cir. 2007) (April 30, 2007).

11th Circuit says large amount of currency, by itself, was not probable cause for forfeiture. (446) DEA agents seized $121,000 in cash from claimant as he was at​tempting to board an airplane. The district court held that a large amount of seized cur​rency alone was sufficient to establish proba​ble cause for the forfeiture of the money. The 11th Circuit rejected this conclusion, holding that a large amount of currency, by itself, is insufficient to establish probable cause for forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6). However, summary judgment in favor of the gov​ernment was affirmed, since under the total​ity of the circumstances, probable cause ex​isted for the forfeiture. The manner in which defendant purchased his airline ticket and the nature of his travel itinerary made it unlikely that he was travelling on either business or vacation. When questioned by DEA agents, defendant appeared quite nervous. Finally, defendant had a history of narcotics arrests and convictions. U.S. v. $121,100.00 in United States Currency, 999 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. $121,100.00 in United States Currency, 999 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1993)."
11th Circuit affirms refusal to grant summary judg​ment to forfeit cashier's checks drawn on a Swiss bank account by drug fugitive. (446) The government sought to forfeit $200,000 in cashier's checks drawn on a Swiss bank account by a fugitive convicted of narcotics of​fenses. The fugitive's sis​ters had attempted to deposit the checks in a Panamanian bank but were re​fused and subsequently expelled from that country. The checks were seized when the sisters attempted to pass through customs in Miami without declaring the checks. The 11th Circuit affirmed the district court's order find​ing that the government had failed to show sufficient proba​ble cause to justify granting a motion for sum​mary judgment. The govern​ment's affidavit failed to show that a "substantial connection exists between the 20 cashiers checks at issue and the exchange of a controlled sub​stance." U.S. v. Twenty (20) Cashier's Checks, 897 F.2d 1567 (11th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Twenty (20) Cashier's Checks, 897 F.2d 1567 (11th Cir. 1990)."
11th Circuit finds no probable cause to forfeit bulldozer pur​chased with cash by close friend of drug dealer. (446) The district court ordered summary judgment for the claimant when the government sought to forfeit a bulldozer pur​chased by the claimant for $65,000 cash. The gov​ernment filed an affi​davit stating that the claimant was a close friend of a drug trafficker who had shown a pattern of buying real and per​sonal property in the names of other indi​viduals. However, the forfeiture complaint made no reference to the controlling statute or to the theory supporting forfeiture pursuant to the statute. The district court found no genuine issue of material fact given the claimant's affidavits stating that the cash be​longed to the claimant. The 11th Circuit af​firmed, stating that if the evidence offered by the gov​ernment here were sufficient, "the property of any friend of a drug trafficker would be subject to forfei​ture simply because the pur​chase was made with cash." Judge Tjoflat dissented. U.S. v. Four Parcels of Real Property, 893 F.2d 1245 (11th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Four Parcels of Real Property, 893 F.2d 1245 (11th Cir. 1990)."
California district court grants summary judgment because evidence of dog alert, Express Mail packaging characteristics, “source” and “destination” cities, alleged contradictory statements, and old drug conviction in their totality did not constitute probable cause for forfeiture at the time complaint was filed. (446) During a routine inspection of packages, Postal Inspector Rofe examined the exterior of an Express Mail parcel in a cardboard box, with a handwritten Express Mail label that did not contain a business account number. The Subject Parcel was addressed to Peter Moore in Gardena, California, from the claimant Sharlene Gibbs in Lithonia, Georgia. According to the Complaint, the United States Postal Service has “identified the Los Angeles and Long Beach areas as major source areas for controlled substances, meaning that controlled substances are frequently transported from the Los Angeles and Long Beach areas via the United States mail, and the proceeds from the sale of the controlled substances are frequently returned to the Los Angeles and Long Beach areas via the United States Mail.” Apparently, Postal Inspectors feel that drug traffickers often use the Express Mail Service for these activities, and thus regularly “investigate” Express Mail packages “suspected of containing controlled substances and proceeds from the sale of controlled substances in Los Angeles.” Circumstances that may raise this suspicion in the minds of Postal Inspectors are alleged to include: (1) the type of packaging (drug dealers supposedly use Express Mail boxes, flat cardboard mailers, or tyvek envelopes); (2) handwritten labels; (3) lack of a business account number; and (4) origin or destination in “an area that is a known origination point for controlled substances, or ... known destination point for mailings of controlled substances.” Gardena, California, is alleged to be a “known destination point for narcotics trafficking proceeds.” Rofe telephoned the number listed for the sender of the package, and spoke with the claimant and then later Mr. Moore, and found their statements contradictory. Moore had a 10-year-old drug conviction, and a dog alerted on the currency. The government filed a complaint for forfeiture of the $17,700.00 in cash found in the parcel. In a summary judgment motion, the claimant recited the above allegations and provided a declaration, in which she stated she provided the government with a W-2 showing that her annual salary was $85,000 and produced a copy of an Allstate insurance proceeds check for $18,968.21 that she had cashed shortly before she mailed the package. Claimant also provided interrogatory responses from the Government indicating that the only three types of Express Mail packaging provided by the USPS include boxes, flat cardboard mailers, and tyvek envelopes. In opposition to the motion, the Government provided no evidence of any sort, and did not dispute the evidence offered by Claimant. Claimant argued that the government could not meet its burden of showing probable cause to believe that the defendant currency was connected to drugs when the complaint was filed. In light of the Government's extremely short, and rather perfunctory, opposition, it should come as little surprise to the Government to learn that the court agreed. None of the facts presented by the Government, either alone or in the aggregate, rose to the level of probable cause. At most, they raised a suspicion that there might be a connection to drugs, but this was not sufficient. The fact that a drug detection dog gave a positive alert to the outside of the package may have been sufficient probable cause to obtain a warrant to open the package, but no drugs were found when the package was opened. That either the package itself or the money therein may have been contaminated with sufficient drug residue to trigger the alert is not convincing evidence, especially in light of the government's apparent assertion that virtually every personal Express Mail package sent in this country is somehow connected to the drug trade. Certain controlled substances have been found to be rather “adhesive,” and easily transferred from one contaminated surface to another. Further, the Ninth Circuit has long recognized that this nation's currency supply is not particularly pristine. Therefore, a positive dog alert must be combined with “other credible evidence clearly connecting the money to drugs.” Here, however, much of the government's case rested on the packaging—that is, the fact that the parcel was an Express Mail cardboard box, of the kind sold by the USPS specifically for use in sending packages through the Express Mail service, with a handwritten label, and not charged to a business account. However, the Government presented no evidence that this type of packaging is preferred by drug dealers, other than the subjective opinion of one Postal Inspector, whose background, qualifications, length of service, and basis for forming this opinion, while they may be unimpeachable, were not provided to the court. Without any evidence, the court was not prepared to find that every personal package sent through Express Mail, in packaging sold by the USPS for that purpose, should be assumed to be from, or sent to, a drug dealer. The fact that this particular package was sent to the allegedly “known destination point for narcotics trafficking proceeds” of Gardena, California, also did not help. Also, the statements identified by the government did not appear to be particularly inconsistent, especially in light of the other facts known to the government before it filed the Complaint: that the sender and addressee of the parcel appeared to be using real names and correct addresses, and that the claimant had provided evidence of a significant salary and a legitimate source for the seized money. Although, it may seem somewhat odd to send $17,000 through the mail, rather than using a more secure source of payment, and it may even raise a suspicion that Claimant could have been involved in some illegal activity, even if this suspicion is indulged, “mere suspicion of illegal activity is not enough to establish probable cause that the money was connected to drugs.” Here, the only potential connection to drugs other than the dog alert was Moore's admission that he had been convicted of a drug offense 10 years before. Neither in itself, nor combined with the other evidence available to the government at the time the complaint was filed, was this sufficient to give rise to probable cause. Thus, the claimant's motion for summary judgment was granted. U.S. v. $17,700.00 in U.S. Currency, 2008 WL 4838491 (C.D.Cal. 2008) (November 6, 2008).

Florida District Court finds no probable cause for forfeiture of aircraft. (446) The govern​ment seized and sought forfeiture of a private airplane as proceeds of narcotics trafficking. The only evidence adduced was: (1) The plane had been seized by the Colombian government for involvement in drug trafficking some years before, but there were no records of how it came to be released; (2) The plane was owned by a corporation controlled by one of the passengers, a man suspected of drug trafficking; (3) The pilot worked in the past for a known drug trafficker. These facts did not establish probable cause. U.S. v. One (1) 1980 Cessna 441 Conquest II Aircraft, 989 F.Supp. 1465, 11 Fla. Law Weekly Fed. D. 484 (S.D. Fla. 1997). xe "U.S. v. One (1) 1980 Cessna 441 Conquest II Aircraft, 989 F.Supp. 1465, 11 Fla. Law Weekly Fed. D. 484  (S.D. Fla. 1997)."
Illinois District Court says old drug convictions plus unexplained income do not equal probable cause. (446) In 1997, IRS and DEA agents seized claimant’s $56,000 Lexus automobile, which claimant had purchased outright with a combination of checks and cash. The seizure warrant was obtained based on: (1) the fact that claimant had two prior convictions – in 1987 and 1989 – for drug trafficking, (2) unspecified informant information, and (3) the fact that $5,500 of the purchase price was paid in cash. Before the 1999 hearing on the forfeiture, the government developed additional informa​tion showing that claimant’s total identifiable legal income between the time of his release from prison and his purchase of the car was less than the price of the vehicle. The district court characterized the state of the government’s information at the time of the seizure as “suspicion rather than probable cause.” It noted that the government is entitled to rely on information discovered after the seizure in justifying the forfeiture, see U.S. v. $53,082.00 in U.S. Currency, 985 F.2d 245, 250 (7th Cir 1993). However, even the additional information about the discrepancy between the purchase price and claimant’s verifiable legal income did not create probable cause. The court was particularly critical of the government’s reliance on old convictions to support an inference that the source of claimant’s funds was drug money. Claimant’s motion for summary judgment was granted. U.S. v. One 1996 Lexus LX 450, 1999 WL 300271 (N.D. Ill 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.), report and recommendation rejected by 1999 WL 617686 (N.D. Ill. 1999).xe "U.S. v. One 1996 Lexus LX 450, 1999 WL 300271 (N.D. Ill 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.), report and recommendation rejected by 1999 WL 617686 (N.D. Ill. 1999)."
Illinois District Court finds probable cause after excluding illegally-obtained evidence. (446) Police officers searched claimants’ residence and found marijuana, firearms, currency, and 3,828 gold and silver coins. State courts found the search unconstitutional, and suppressed all evidence because the police did not obtain consent to search and later forged the homeowner’s name on a consent form. In the meantime, federal authorities filed a civil forfeiture action under 21 U.S.C. §§881(a)(6) and 881(a)(7) against the real property, the currency, and the coins. Claimants moved to suppress the fruits of the search in the forfeiture action and sought summary judgment. The district court held that evidence directly obtained in the search should be excluded, but nonetheless found probable cause based on evidence that (1) existed before the illegal search, or (2) as to which the taint of the illegal search had dissipated. See Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590 (1975). In particular, the court excluded statements made by one claimant immediately after the search, but considered claimants’ interrogatory responses and deposition testimony in the civil forfeiture case. U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, Maple Park, Illinois, 962 F.Supp. 1081 (N.D. Ill. 1997).xe "U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, Maple Park, Illinois, 962 F.Supp. 1081 (N.D. Ill. 1997)."
Kentucky district court forfeits mini-mart property that stored drugs and drug paraphernalia, along with cash in safe found in proximity to marijuana, but denies forfeiture of cash in register not near drugs as consistent with legitimate business practices. (445)(446)  Kentucky Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control conducted a search at J-One Market and found marijuana, cocaine, prescription bottles with the labels completely or partially removed, drug paraphernalia, and cash.  Ayyoub, the sole shareholder of Jamal, Inc., which was the owner of defendant property, ultimately pled guilty to a drug trafficking charge. The United States filed a civil forfeiture action against the real property and currency and claimants Ayyoub and Ibrahim filed claims and answers. Ayyoub has responded to discovery requests, but Ibrahim has not, and according to claimants' counsel, she cannot be reached and is outside the country. The government claimed the property was forfeitable because it was used to store controlled substances, facilitating drug trafficking. Claimants argued that the real property was not used to store the controlled substances in question to a degree that use of the premises rose to the level of facilitation, but the controlled substances were only found on the premises. The said the relationship between the drugs and the real property was merely “incidental,” as opposed to “facilitative.” Claimants cited no case law to support this “degrees of storage” theory, and did not explain how the presence of drugs within the store did not amount to storage. At the very least, this arrangement provided a secure area for a dealer to conceal his or her inventory. Also Claimants' argument that there was no evidence in the underlying criminal case of any connection between the real property and any sale of drugs directly contradicted Ayyoub's guilty plea to drug trafficking, which arose out of the discovery of controlled substances on defendant real property. Claimants provided no alternative, plausible rationale for the sheer quantity of narcotics and drug paraphernalia discovered on the premises, which precluded any argument that they were for personal use. Thus, the government's motion for summary judgment with respect to the defendant real property was granted. Ibrahim also failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence that she as an innocent owner because she offered nothing to prove that she “did not know and was reasonably without cause to believe that the property was subject to forfeiture.” As for over $6,000 in cash seized from a safe bolted to the office floor with two large bags of marijuana, the storage of both cash and narcotics in the safe, the presence of more drugs and drug paraphernalia on the premises, and Ayyoub's drug trafficking conviction support the government's position that the currency represents proceeds of drug trafficking. With the exception of Ayyoub's self-serving statement that the currency represents proceeds from the legitimate operation of his business, he provided no evidence to suggest that this money represents anything other than proceeds from drug trafficking. However, $1,004.61 in currency found in the cash register and $315.00 in currency found in a lock box, although suspicious due to the amount of drugs found elsewhere on the premises, were not stored alongside narcotics. While these amounts of currency may very well represent proceeds from the sale of narcotics, viewed in the light most favorable to the claimant, the government failed to support its claim past mere suspicion. The storage of this currency was consistent with legitimate business practices. At the very least, a genuine issue of material fact exists as to the origins of this currency. Finally, the government argued that Ayyoub was precluded from asserting a defense to forfeiture by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. However, since the issue of whether the currency represents the proceeds of drug trafficking was not litigated and was not necessary and essential to the judgment on the merits in the criminal case, the government's collateral estoppel argument failed, although Ayyoub's conviction could still be considered as evidence tending to support the conclusion that currency seized represents the proceeds of drug trafficking. U.S. v. Real Property Known as 1430-1436 Madison Avenue, Covington, Kentucky, 2007 WL 4570927 (E.D.Ky. 2007) (December 21, 2007).

Louisiana District Court dismisses forfeiture action for lack of probable cause. (446) The district court granted summary judgment to the claimant in this civil forfeiture action against cash seized from a domestic airline passenger. The court found the following facts insufficient to show probable cause to believe the money was narcotics proceeds: (1) claimant purchased with cash a one-way ticket from New Orleans to Houston, Texas, “a known source city for drugs”; (2) claimant appeared nervous while purchasing his ticket and while talking with officers; (3) claimant gave an improbable explanation for his trip involving visiting a niece whose last name he did not know; (4) claimant asserted he was not carrying any large sums of cash; (5) claimant was carrying $14,876 in cash in his pocket and in his shoes; (6) claimant’s story about the origin of the money was “confusing and somewhat improbable” and he lied about his last trip to Houston; (7) a drug dog alerted to the money; and (8) claimant’s cellphone had in its memory the number of a man recently arrested for trafficking in 11 kilos of cocaine. The court concluded that all this amounted to little more than “mere suspicion.” U.S. v. $14,876.00 in U.S. Currency, 1998 WL 10353 (E.D. La. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. $14,876.00 in U.S. Currency, 1998 WL 10353 (E.D. La. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Massachusetts District Court finds no probable cause for forfeiture of cash from airline traveler. (446) In a vigorous and outspoken opinion, a Massachusetts District Court found no probable cause for the forfeiture of a bundle of cash seized from an airline passenger bound from Boston to Las Vegas. She wrote, “Even in the byzantine world of forfeiture law, this case is an example of overreaching.” The following facts did not, in the court’s opinion, amount to probable cause: (1) Claimant was carrying $14,745 in cash wrapped in rubber bands. Neither the amount nor the binding method were particularly probative of crime. (2) Claimant purchased his ticket with cash. Claimant’s explanation that he was carrying cash and used cash to buy the ticket because he had experienced trouble with his bank was not inherently incredible. (3) Claimant’s assertion that he earned the money by selling personal care products door-to-door was corroborated, at least in part, by documentary evidence. (4) Claimant’s story that he was carrying the money to Las Vegas to make a down payment on a home was plausible. (5) A positive alert on the money by a drug-sniffing dog added little probative weight. (6) Claimant had no arrest or conviction record for drug or other offenses. U.S. v. One Lot of U.S. Currency Totaling $14,665, 33 F.Supp.2d 47 (D. Mass. 1999).xe "U.S. v. One Lot of U.S. Currency Totaling $14,665, 33 F.Supp.2d 47 (D. Mass. 1999)."
New York District Court finds probable cause to forfeit most items seized in huge marijuana case. (446) Federal agents discovered marijuana worth $8 million, jewelry, vehicles, artwork, and $1 million in cash and gold at a farm in Sandisfield, Mass. The proprietor of this thriving operation died of cancer while awaiting trial on drug and criminal forfeiture charges, so the government filed a civil in rem forfeiture against the farm and virtually everything on it. Based on the physical evidence seized in the search, as well as witness testimony that the property owner had been trafficking in marijuana for over twenty years, the district court found probable cause to believe most of the seized items were forfeitable as instrumentalities or proceeds of drug crimes. However, the court held that the overwhelming evidence of a huge, longstanding drug business did not, in itself, establish probable cause for the forfeiture of all the owner’s assets. To establish probable cause to forfeit items such as the artwork, the government would have to produce evidence more directly linking particular items to drug proceeds. As the owner’s estate could not rebut the government’s probable cause showing, the court granted summary judgment as to the real property and the bulk of the personalty, but set the case down for further proceedings as to the rest. U.S. v. The Real Property … at 40 Clark Road, 52 F.Supp.2d 254 (D. Mass. 1999).xe "U.S. v. The Real Property … at 40 Clark Road, 52 F.Supp.2d 254 (D. Mass. 1999)."
New York District Court finds no probable cause to believe gold chain was related to unlawful drug activity. (446) DEA agents executed a search warrant at plaintiff’s residence and seized automobiles, weapons, address books, and other items. Plaintiff and his wife were arrested but not prosecuted based on the results of the search. They subsequently charged with, and eventually pleaded guilty to, federal drug charges in a second criminal investigation. Defendant thereafter filed a motion to return the items seized during the search of his residence. DEA denied seizing any jewelry, but a copy of the search warrant return revealed that the DEA had seized a man’s gold chain. Although the court rejected plaintiff’s argument that the government’s failure to prosecute defendant based on items seized in the search demonstrated lack of probable cause, the court nonetheless found that the government lacked probable cause to believe that the gold chain was in any way related to unlawful drug activity. The court ordered the government to return the gold chain or its cash equivalent. Pimentel v. Drug Enforcement Administration, 99 F. Supp. 2d 420 (S.D.N.Y. 2000). 

Puerto Rico district court holds that totality of evidence presented by the government was insufficient to prove probable cause of drug nexus, let alone CAFRA standard of preponderance of the evidence. (446) The claimants flew from New York City to San Juan, Puerto Rico and, upon arrival, DEA agents searched and seized cash from each of them. In considering summary judgment, the court found that the government offered the following undisputed facts in support of forfeiture of the currency: 1) agents observed signs of nervousness in claimants; 2) both claimants purchased one-way tickets in cash; 3) both claimants consented to be interviewed, claimed to be traveling alone, and claimant Gonzalez acknowledged carrying a large amount of currency; 4) agents searched claimant Reyes’ suitcase after obtaining his consent, found $38,760.00 in cash in the pant leg of a pair of blue jeans, and Reyes’ offer to provide documentation as to the legality or source of funds at that time was ignored; 5) agents searched Gonzalez’ suitcase after obtaining his consent, found $58,920.00 in cash also inside a pair of jeans, Gonzalez was unable to offer at that time documentation as to the legality or source of the monies, and his offer to provide the documentation for the agents at a later time was ignored; 6) after being questioned and after the search, Reyes changed his original statement and stated that he had indeed traveled with Gonzalez; and (7) no drugs or narcotics were found in either suitcase despite the positive K-9 results to narcotics. The Court held that the case fell under the Civil Asset Forfeiture Reform Act of 2000 (“CAFRA”), which heightened the threshold so that the burden of proof is on the government to establish, by a preponderance of evidence, that the property is subject to forfeiture, and that there was a substantial connection between the property and the offense, which must be “the exchange of a controlled substance.” The Court found 1) carrying a large amount of cash may indicate criminal activity, but is not necessarily illegal to transport money interstate, so while possibly suspicious, it was perfectly legal and within the right of both claimants; the way the money was packed inside blue jeans, while possibly suggestive of some criminal activity, added “next to nothing” in making a more specific connection to drug crime; 2) business travelers often purchase airline tickets with credit cards or checks while drug couriers often do not, so the method claimants used to pay for their airline tickets, did “little (if anything) to connect the money to an exchange of controlled substances, especially when both claimants were traveling with tickets purchased under their own names, and at all times produced identification to confirm their identity”; 3) aside from the natural nervousness that can occur when traveling, claimants' apparent nervousness is of minimal probative value, given that claimants were carrying a large amount of currency in their luggage, which could be robbed or lost, and many, if not most, individuals can become nervous or anxious when detained by police officers, so the nervousness was more than justified; the inconsistencies thus were not a strong indication of the requisite narcotics nexus; 4) the probative value of dog alerts to the smell of narcotics on currency has been called into question, and at best indicates that the currency (like most circulated currency) may have been exposed, at some point, to narcotics; when combined with more compelling evidence of a connection to a narcotics transaction, dog alerts may be probative; but it added little in this case. The Court concluded that the evidence presented by the government was not sufficient to meet the probable cause standard, much less the current standard of preponderance of the evidence to establish a nexus between the defendant currency and a drug transaction, and the claimants also produced uncontroverted evidence that the money seized originated from legal sources, and ordered return of the currency. U.S. v. A) $58,920.00 in U.S. Currency, B) $38,670.00 in U.S. Currency, 385 F.Supp.2d 144 (D.P.R. 2005) (Sep 6, 2005). 
Puerto Rico District Court finds dog sniff plus courier profile does not equal probable cause. (446) Claimant arrived at a Puerto Rico airport on a flight from Colombia, en route to Ft. Lauderdale, Florida. When bundles of cash were detected in his carry-on luggage by an x-ray machine, he told a DEA agent that he was carrying $40,000 obtained from a sale of gold in Colombia, but was unable to provide details about the sale or the identity of his customers. A drug-sniffing dog alerted on the money. The district court found the government failed to establish probable cause that the funds were connected to drug trafficking. Although carrying a large sum of money is “strong evidence” of connection to an illegal drug activity, it is not sufficient standing alone. The facts that claimant purchased his ticket to Ft. Lauderdale with cash and that he was travelling between “well-known centers of drug trafficking activity” were of minimal probative value. Finally, the positive dog sniff had “some probative value,” but was insufficient to generate probable cause. “A mere courier profile, combined with a positive drug dog sniff, is insufficient to provide probable cause….” U.S. v. $40,000 in U.S. Currency, 999 F.Supp. 234 (D. P.R. 1998).
